IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 83,149

ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY,

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

The Fourth District has completely abrogated Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.280(b)(1) and has now ruled that conceded irrelevant and immaterial discovery in an ordinary first party UM case, <u>must</u> be produced, unless the Defendant proves it is in danger of physical harm if the discovery is produced. <u>Allstate</u> <u>Insurance Company v. Langston</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D2295 (Fla. 4th DCA October 27, 1993).

Mrs. Langston sued Allstate for uninsured motorist benefits for personal injuries resulting from a car accident. <u>Langston</u>, D2295. Mrs. Langston's Complaint does **not** contain any claims of bad faith or unfair claims practices. However, Mrs. Langston requested production of the following documents:

> 3. All internal procedural memos regarding the handling of uninsured motorist claims in effect during the last twelve (12) months.

4. Your latest claims manual on processing and handling of uninsured motorist claims in general.

5. A copy of your standards for the proper investigation of claims that were in effect at any time during the last twenty-four months (24) months.

6. All correspondence to or from anyone, including any insurance agencies, any doctors' offices, any employers, any agencies hired to select doctors for "independent medical examinations" and any law enforcement agencies for the uninsured motorist claim involved herein.

Langston, D2295.

While the appellate court granted certiorari regarding paragraph 6 and required an in camera inspection of those

-1-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

documents, it ordered the production of paragraphs 3, 4, and 5; which Allstate had objected to on the basis that they were work product and that the request to discovery was irrelevant. Langston, D2295. While the Fourth District did not find that the claims manuals, standards, etc. were work product, the court did find that all of these documents were <u>irrelevant</u> to the lawsuit; especially where the Plaintiff had no claim whatsoever for bad faith or unfair claim practice against Allstate. <u>Langston</u>, D2295. Furthermore, the court noted that the Plaintiff did not even offer any explanation as to how these documents could be possibly relevant to her UM lawsuit.

The Fourth District, however, decided that even though this discovery was completely irrelevant, it was still discoverable because Allstate could not establish "material injury of an irreparable nature," i.e. threat of physical harm. <u>Langston</u>, D2295.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fourth District recognized that the materials sought by the Plaintiff was completely irrelevant to her uninsured motorist claim against Allstate and that the Plaintiff's Complaint does not contain claims of bad faith or unfair claim practices. However, the Fourth District required the production of material, it acknowledged as completely irrelevant to the Plaintiff's claim, solely on the basis that the carrier had failed to <u>prove</u> irreparable harm. The opinion in <u>Langston</u> is in direct and express conflict with decisions out of this court and other

-2-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, R.A.

district courts; has completely abrogated Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.280(b)(1); and involves a question of great public importance as irreparable harm is presumed from an Order to produce irrelevant discovery, especially where it is virtually impossible to show irreparable harm when the discovery sought is irrelevant to the litigation.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION BELOW IS IN DIRECT AND EXPRESS CONFLICT WITH FLORIDA RULE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 1.280(b)(1); THE DECISION OF THIS COURT IN <u>KILGORE; BROOKS; MARTIN-JOHNSON, INFRA;</u> AND THE DECISIONS OF THE DISTRICT COURTS IN <u>EAST</u> <u>COLONIAL; MANATEE COUNTY; SALIDO, INFRA;</u> AND PRESENTS A QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE REGARDING THE PRODUCTION OF CONCEDEDLY IRRELEVANT DISCOVERY AND THE INHERENT IRREPARABLE HARM IN HAVING TO PRODUCE THESE DOCUMENTS.

The Fourth District has created new law in abrogating Rule 1.280(b)(1), which states that "parties may obtain discovery regarding any matter, not privileged, that is **relevant** to the subject matter of the pending action...." The Fourth District ordered the production of discovery, such as general claims manuals, standards, etc., which the appellate court expressly found to be completely irrelevant to the pending uninsured motorist claim. The Fourth District asserted that it could do this because the insurance carrier failed to show "irreparable harm." However, harm is presumed when irrelevant discovery has been ordered to be produced. <u>East Colonial Refuse Service, Inc.</u> <u>v. Velocci</u>, 416 So. 2d 1276 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982). In <u>East</u> <u>Colonial</u>, the Fifth District found that common law certiorari was an appropriate remedy, in direct conflict with the Fourth

-3-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

District's finding in <u>Langston</u>, due to the irreparable harm involved when an order impermissibly grants discovery of an irrelevant item. In <u>East Colonial</u>, the production requested was completely irrelevant and even in Judge Dauksch's specially concurring opinion, while he expressed his reluctance to grant certiorari review for pre-trial orders, he found that certiorari was required in order to prevent the production of material that was irrelevant at the time of bringing the petition. <u>East</u> Colonial, 1277-1278.

It seems incredible that we must cite to this court cases that hold that only relevant discovery must be produced and that if the discovery order is in violation of the essential requirements of law, the reasonable result is injury to the defendant not subject to remedy by appeal. <u>Kilgore</u>, <u>infra</u>. Therefore, certiorari is the appropriate procedure to quash the production of irrelevant material. In Brooks v. Owens, 97 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 1957), this court relying on Kilgore, expressly found that certiorari was the proper procedure to review pre-trial discovery orders, noting that the rules of discovery were designed to secure the just and inexpensive determination of every action, but that did not mean, nor permit discovery merely to place one party in a more strategic position; there must be "some connection between the information sought and the action itself." Kilgore v. Bird, 149 So. Fla. 570, 6 So. 2d 541 (Fla. 1942); Brooks, 699. This court in Brooks, also recognized that if the order of the trial court was in violation of the essential

-4-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

requirements of controlling law, such as the Order in the present case requiring the production of concededly irrelevant discovery, "the reasonable result would be an injury to the defendant not subject to remedy by appeal." <u>Brooks</u>, 696. In other words, irreparable harm from having to produce irrelevant discovery was <u>presumed</u>, as reaffirmed 25 years later by the Fifth District in <u>East Colonial</u>.

Kilgore and Brooks formed the basis for the Supreme Court's decision in Martin-Johnson, Inc. v. Savage, 509 So. 2d 1097 (Fla. 1987), which the Fourth District used to deny certiorari in Langston. Apparently, the Fourth District accepted Langston's argument that unless there was a threat of physical harm involved, certiorari could not be granted, even from a discovery order requiring the production of concededly irrelevant material. It is important to remember that Martin-Johnson involved a motion to strike a claim for punitive damages and the discovery sought was financial information. This court found that the litigants' finances were not the type of irreparable harm contemplated by the standard of review for certiorari. Going back to Kilgore, this court noted the difference between discovery orders which merely violate rules of evidence and those that could be corrected by reversal and those which violated some type of fundamental right causing harm that could not be remedied on Martin-Johnson, 1099. In the present case, the appeal. insurance carrier has the fundamental right to maintain the integrity of his entire business operation, which should not be

-5-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

subject to the type of fishing expedition the Fourth District has allowed. This is especially true when the Fourth District noted that it found the material irrelevant and even went further to note that the Plaintiff had offered no explanation whatsoever as to how all the procedure manuals, claims manuals, standards, etc., used by the insurance carrier were in any way relevant to the lawsuit. Langston, D2295.

It is respectfully submitted that to allow certiorari relief in the present case, where irreparable harm is presumed, is not violative of the standard set forth by this court in <u>Kilqore</u>, Brooks, or Martin-Johnson. Rather, this is the very type of harm envisioned by this court, when it referred to "cat out of the bag" material, that could be used by an unscrupulous litigant to injury another person or party outside the context of the Martin-Johnson, 1100. There simply is no reason in litigation. a routine uninsured motorist coverage case to reward the Plaintiff for requesting all the printed materials of the insurance carrier, on matters concededly irrelevant to the Plaintiff's claim. Apparently, the Plaintiff is seeking all standards, procedure manuals, etc. in hopes of discovering something that the Plaintiff can use against the insurance carrier in some later law suit; and this is exactly the type of material that should be protected under <u>Martin-Johnson</u>, <u>Kilgore</u>, and Brooks.

Furthermore, it is virtually impossible to establish irreparable harm when irrelevant discovery is required to be

-6-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A. SUITE 302, 1777 SOUTH ANDREWS AVE., FORT LAUDERDALE, FLA. 33316 • TEL. (305) 525+5885

SUITE 206 BISCAYNE BUILDING, 19 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FLA. 33130 + TEL. (305) 940-7557

produced, since the Defendant has absolutely no way of knowing what the Plaintiff plans on doing with this irrelevant material, or how she is going to use it. This is not a situation like the one in <u>Martin-Johnson</u>, where financial information was being requested in order for the Plaintiff to recover punitive damages. Clearly, there the purpose of the information was understood to both sides, and financial information was relevant to the plaintiff's claim for punitive damages. In the present case, the Fourth District has found that all the materials required to be produced are irrelevant to the Plaintiff's claim. It is in this type of situation that irreparable harm must be presumed, as the Defendant has a fundamental right to prevent this type of unlimited expedition into all the printed materials of the Defendant's business.

It goes without saying that there are literally dozens and dozens of decisions involving a petition for certiorari where the first rule applied is whether the discovery is <u>relevant</u> and can reasonably lead to admissible evidence. <u>Brooks</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Manatee</u> <u>County v. Estech General Chemicals Corporation</u>, 402 So. 2d 75 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981)(we start our review by noting that discovery is usually permitted only on matters reasonably calculated to lead to admissible evidence). Therefore, the right to discovery does not extend to matters which are not directly relevant and which cannot reasonably lead to relevant matters. <u>Manatee</u>, 76; <u>City of Miami v. Fraternal Order or Police</u>, 346 So. 2d 100 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977); <u>Hoogland v. Dollar Land Corporation, Ltd.</u>, 330 So.

-7-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

2d 509 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976); <u>Travelers Indemnity Company v.</u> <u>Salido</u>, 354 So. 2d 963 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978). In <u>Manatee</u>, because the questions were not relevant and could not lead to relevant matters, certiorari was granted and the discovery order was quashed. <u>Manatee</u>, 76. It is respectfully submitted that this is the correct procedure to use when the discovery involved is only admittedly irrelevant evidence. Even the Fourth District itself held that even when discovery was not confined solely to pending issues, a party could "fish," but this fishing must be <u>within</u> the limits stated by the Rules of Civil Procedure; citing the predecessor to Rule 1.280. <u>Parker v. Parker</u>, 182 So. 2d 498 (Fla. 4th DCA 1966).

The bottom line in this case is that the Fourth District has rewarded the Plaintiff's request for completely irrelevant material, which the Fourth District recognized as being totally irrelevant to the lawsuit, and it has allowed the Plaintiff to conduct a classic fishing expedition into files, manuals, procedures, standards, etc. of all insurance carriers, in any type of claims in hopes of being able apparently to find some type of basis for suing the insurance carrier for bad faith. This type of fishing expedition has never been allowed as a matter of established Florida law.

The more important question in this case however, is the Fourth District's abrogation of Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.280(b)(1), and its overruling of not only numerous cases out of the Fourth District, but the direct and express conflict with the

-8-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

decisions of this court and other courts which have recognized that the order to produce irrelevant discovery causes irreparable harm per se and the discovery Order must be quashed. <u>Kilqore;</u> Brooks; Martin-Johnson; East Colonial; Manatee; Allstate Insurance Company, Inc. v. Walker, 583 So. 2d 356 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991); State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company v. Kelly, 533 So. 2d 787 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988); Zabner v. Howard Johnson's, Incorporated of Florida, 227 So. 2d 543 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969). There is now a decision on the law books, Langston, stating that in any standard uninsured motorist case, the carrier will be required to produce manuals, procedures, standards, etc. which are admittedly completely irrelevant. Of course, this would result in harassment to the insurance carrier, but more importantly Langston is in direct and express conflict with existing case law throughout Florida. It is interesting that the appellate court that is cited most frequently for its definition of relevance, in determining whether discovery should be produced or not, is the very same court that has now created new law by ruling that any type of irrelevant material must be produced, unless the party can show some type of irreparable harm apparently in the nature of a physical injury, based on this court's decision in Martin-Johnson. Langston, D2295; Zabner, supra.

It is respectfully submitted that the Fourth District has completely misconstrued this court's decision in <u>Martin-Johnson</u>, and that where totally irrelevant discovery is being sought, the presumption of irreparable harm arises and the discovery order

-9-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

must be quashed. Kilgore; Brooks; Martin-Johnson; East Colonial, supra. To hold otherwise would open a flood gate of discovery requests in every type of case, for material that is totally irrelevant to the litigation and certainly subject to being used by unscrupulous litigants to injure the opposing party, outside the context of the litigation; and cannot be quashed through a petition for certiorari unless physical danger or harm is involved. Certainly this was not the intent of this court in The Langston decision, which sets extremely Martin-Johnson. dangerous precedent regarding the production of all types of completely irrelevant material in any case, must be reviewed and reversed by this court. It is in direct and express conflict with the decisions of this court in Kilgore; Brooks; Martin-Johnson, as well as in direct and express conflict with East Colonial; Manatee; Salido; and numerous other cases holding that only relevant discovery must be produced.

CONCLUSION

The Fourth District's decision in <u>Langston</u> is in direct and express conflict with the decisions of this court in <u>Kilgore</u>, <u>Brooks</u>, and <u>Martin-Johnson</u>, as well as in direct and express conflict with numerous district court decisions, and presents a question of great public importance involving the standard for certiorari review when the trial court has ordered legally irrelevant discovery to be produced. This court has jurisdiction to review the Fourth District's abrogation of Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.280(b)(1).

-10-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P. A. SUITE 302, 1777 SOUTH ANDREWS AVE., FORT LAUDERDALE, FLA. 33316 • TEL. (305) 525-5885

SUITE 206 BISCAYNE BUILDING, 19 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FLA. 33130 + TEL. (305) 940-7557