IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NUMBER: 83,149

SID J. WHITE APR 6 1994

015

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

vs.

• .

t e

JOYCE LANGSTON on behalf of minor child, SHANARD LANGSTON,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON JURISDICTION

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CASE NUMBER: 93-02354

Darryl L. Lewis, Esquire William N. Hutchinson, Jr., P.A. Counsel for Respondent 514 Southeast 7th Street Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 (305) 764-0588 Florida Bar # 818021

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

х **х** . .

The Fourth District Court of Appeal did not create new law in its decision in Allstate Insurance Company v. Langston, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D2295 (Fla. 4th DCA October 27, 1993). The Fourth District Court of Appeal merely followed the law as developed by this Court and the decisions of the other District Courts. Specifically, the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that for the Petitioner to be successful in the granting of an extraordinary remedy of certiorari, it had to show that the disclosure of the requested documents "may reasonably cause material injury of an irreparable nature." Id. See also Martin-Johnson, Inc. v. Savage, 509 So. 2d 1097, 1100 (Fla. 1987); Brooks v. Owens, 97 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 1957) (Where there is no full, adequate and complete remedy by appeal after final judgment, certiorari is proper where court acted without and in excess of jurisdiction, or order does not conform to essential requirements of law and may cause material injury). The Petitioner failed to sustain that burden, and therefore, the Fourth District Court of Appeal properly denied the request for The overall theme of the Petitioner's Initial Brief certiorari. is that the production of irrelevant evidence creates a material injury of an irreparable nature, and thus, the granting of certiorari would have been proper in the instant case. However, while it is true that only relevant evidence should be admissible in the trial court, whether evidence is admissible is not the focus of the Court in a certiorari proceeding. Specifically, the focus in certiorari proceedings is on whether the moving party has

demonstrated irreparable injury. If the moving party is unable to prove irreparable injury, an interlocutory appeal is not permitted under the Rules of Appellate Procedure and the only remedy is to bring a plenary appeal of the final judgment.

. .

. . .

ARGUMENT

٠,

ι,

THE PETITIONER FAILED TO PROVE THAT IT WOULD SUFFER MATERIAL INJURY OF AN IRREPARABLE NATURE BY THE PRODUCTION OF THE REQUESTED DOCUMENTS, AND THEREFORE, THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL WAS CORRECT IN DENYING, IN PART, THE WRIT OF CERTIORARI.

Contrary to the Petitioner's assertions, the Fourth District Court of Appeal did not create new law in its decision in Allstate Insurance Company v. Langston, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D2295 (Fla. 4th DCA October 27, 1993). The Fourth District Court of Appeal merely followed the law as developed by this Court and the decisions of the other District Courts. Specifically, the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that for the Petitioner to be successful in the granting of an extraordinary remedy of certiorari, it had to show that the disclosure of the requested documents "may reasonably cause material injury of an irreparable nature." Id. See also Martin-Johnson, Inc. v. Savage, 509 So. 2d 1097, 1100 (Fla. 1987); Brooks v. Owens, 97 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 1957) (Where there is no full, adequate and complete remedy by appeal after final judgment, certiorari is proper where court acted without and in excess of jurisdiction, or order does not conform to essential requirements of law and may cause material injury). The Petitioner failed to sustain that burden, and therefore, the Fourth District Court of Appeal properly denied the request for certiorari.

The overall theme of the Petitioner's Initial Brief is that the production of irrelevant evidence creates a material injury of an irreparable nature, and thus, the granting of certiorari would have been proper in the instant case. However, while it is true

that only relevant evidence should be admissible in the trial court, whether evidence is admissible is not the focus of the Court in a certiorari proceeding. Specifically, the focus in certiorari proceedings is on whether the moving party has demonstrated irreparable injury. If the moving party is unable to prove irreparable injury, an interlocutory appeal is not permitted under the Rules of Appellate Procedure and the only remedy is to bring a plenary appeal of the final judgment.

As to the merits of the Petitioner's arguments, in <u>Martin-Johnson, Inc. v. Savage</u>, 509 So. 2d 1097, 1100 (Fla. 1987), this Court delineated the test for the proper use of certiorari. Specifically, this Court opined that "common law certiorari is an extraordinary remedy." <u>Id</u>. at 1098. Furthermore, this Court referred to the Advisory Committee note to the 1977 Revision of the Florida Appellate Rules, and quoted:

[I]t is extremely rare that erroneous interlocutory rulings can be corrected by resort to common law certiorari. It is anticipated that since the most urgent interlocutory orders are appealable under this rule, there will be very few cases where common law certiorari will provide relief.

<u>Id</u>. at 1098-99. [citation omitted]. Therefore, although it is clear that certiorari is the proper vehicle by which a Petitioner can attempt relief from an erroneous discovery order, it should only be granted where an appeal "after final judgment is unlikely to [provide] an adequate remedy because once discovery is wrongfully granted, the complaining party is beyond relief." <u>Id</u>.

To prevail, the Petitioner must show that the harm which might result from the requested discovery is the "type of `irreparable

harm' contemplated by the standard of review for certiorari." <u>Id</u>. Basically, in these types of proceedings, "an order may be quashed only for certain fundamental errors." <u>Id</u>. Not every erroneous discovery order creates certiorari jurisdiction, as adequate redress by plenary appeal from a final judgment is available.

As with the requested discovery in the Martin-Johnson case, the Petitioners in the instant case have failed to demonstrate that material injury of an irreparable nature would be created by the production of the requested discovery. First, contrary to the Petitioner's assertions, the Fourth District Court of Appeal did not "find" - let alone "expressly f[ind]" - that the requested documents were "completely irrelevant." [Petitioner's Initial Brief at 3]. Appellate courts do not make findings of fact in these types of proceedings. Furthermore, the language used by the Fourth District Court of Appeal was simply: "We do agree that from the face of the request that the documents sought in paragraphs 3, 4 and 5, consisting of internal procedural memos, claims manuals and standards for proper investigation of claims, appear irrelevant to a lawsuit involving a claim for uninsured motorist benefits where no claim of bad faith or unfair claim practices has been made." Langston. [emphasis added]. Therefore, the Petitioner's characterization of the language used by the Fourth District Court of Appeal is misleading.

Furthermore, the Petitioner mischaracterized the holding of East Colonial Refuse Service, Inc. v. Velocci, 416 So. 2d 1276 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), by claiming that the court had "presumed" harm

where irrelevant discovery had been ordered to be produced. [Petitioner's Initial Brief at 3]. In East Colonial, the Fifth District Court of Appeal simply held that discovery "must be relevant to the subject matter of the case and be admissible or reasonably calculated to lead to admissible evidence in the case." The case was further decided on the theory of Id. at 1277. privileged information, and that the requested documents did not have to be produced because of the existence of a privilege. Specifically, the requesting party was seeking a customer list that constituted a "trade secret." Id. at 1278. Not only did the Fifth District not hold that the information was "completely irrelevant" - as stated by the Petitioner - but "left the door open," so to speak, for the requesting party to submit an additional request if it could be shown that there existed a right to the accounting. Id. Nonetheless, nowhere in the opinion does it suggest that there existed a presumption of harm in irrelevant information.

٠,

In the instant case, the Petitioner had originally objected to the discovery requests as irrelevant. <u>Langston</u>. The trial court obviously overruled that objection, as it ordered the Petitioner to provide the requested documents. On appeal, for the Petitioner to succeed in a request for certiorari, it was the Petitioner's burden to show that compliance with the trial court's order would result in "material injury of an irreparable nature." The Petitioner failed to sustain that burden. In its most simple terms, the Fourth District Court of Appeal's holding was that the Petitioner must sustain this burden to succeed in a request for certiorari,

regardless of whether the requested documents were relevant. Unfortunately, the Petitioner is confusing two (2) distinct arguments. Before the courts can consider the merits of the relevancy argument, the Petitioner must prove that it is entitled to certiorari by proving material injury of an irreparable injury. After that burden has been sustained, the courts can consider the second issue of whether the requested information was relevant to the underlying causes of action. If the Petitioner cannot sustain its burden in certiorari, its only remedy under the Rules of Appellate Procedure is to conduct a plenary appeal after final judgment has been entered.

The Petitioner argued that it had a "fundamental right to maintain the integrity of [its] entire business operation." [Petitioner's Initial Brief at 5]. However, despite the Petitioner's choice of words, it is unclear how the disclosure of the requested policy manuals would "harm" the Petitioner's business, and furthermore, how the Petitioner's maintenance of its business rises to a "fundamental right" as envisioned by this Court in <u>Martin-Johnson</u>.¹ Additionally, the Petitioner attempts to characterize the requested documents as a "fishing expedition"²

¹ Interestingly, nowhere in the Petitioner's Brief does Counsel explain how the Petitioner will be irreparably harmed by the disclosure of the requested documents. At the very least, this issue had to be addressed by the Petitioner to argue that certiorari should have been granted.

² The Fourth District Court of Appeal specifically allowed some "fishing" in its opinion in <u>Parker v. Parker</u>, 182 So. 2d 498 (Fla. 4th DCA 1966), as long as the parties stay within the Rules of Civil Procedure.

where the Counsel for the Respondent seeks documents to be utilized against the Petitioner in other litigation.³ However, these barefaced accusations are not supported by the record, and should therefore, not be considered by this Court.

۰.

· · ·

Therefore, the Fourth District Court of Appeal did not err in denying, in part, the Petitioner's writ of certiorari. As stated previously, for the Petitioner to succeed in a request for certiorari, it was the Petitioner's burden to show that compliance with the trial court's order would result in "material injury of an irreparable nature." The Petitioner failed to sustain that burden. The bottom line is that before the courts can consider the merits of the Petitioner's relevancy argument, the Petitioner must prove that it is entitled to certiorari by showing material injury of an irreparable injury. After that burden has been sustained, the courts can consider the second issue of whether the requested information was relevant to the underlying causes of action. Since the Petitioner failed to prove that it is entitled to certiorari, the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision should be affirmed and the Petitioner should be compelled to provide the requested documents.

³ In fact, the Petitioner admits in the Initial Brief that it does not know how the Respondent intends to use the requested documents, so how can it claim that the Respondent intends to use the documents in other litigation? [Petitioner's Brief at 7].

CONCLUSION

14 - 15, 14 1

> For the foregoing reasons, the Respondent respectfully requests that this Court affirm the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in all respects.